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DECI S| ON AND CORDER

Oh May 28, 1985, Administrative Law Judge ( ALJ) Robert L.
Burkett issued the attached Decisioninthis natter. Thereafter,
Respondent R chard A dass Conpany, I nc. (Respondent or Conpany)
tinely filed exceptions to the ALJ' s Decision with a supporting
brief, and General Counsel filed a brief in response to Respondent's
excepti ons.

The Agricultural Labor Relations Board (ALRB or Board) has
considered the record and the ALJ's Decision in |light of the
exceptions and briefs of the parties and has decided to affirmthe
rulings, findings, and conclusions of the ALJ, to the extent they
are consistent herewith, and to issue the attached Or der.

Backgr ound

At all times pertinent herein, Respondent operated a

business in I ndio, California, whereby it provided packi ng,

shi pping and nmarketing services for independent citrus growers.



Respondent nmade additional services available to its grower-custoners
upon request, such as providing themw th harvest crews and equi pment
and supervising the actual harvest and transport of crops fromtheir
fields to Respondent's packing shed.

O January 14, 1977, the Wnhited FarmVWrkers of Anerica, AFL-
AQO(UFWor Uni on), served Respondent wth a Petition for Certification

pursuant to Labor Gode section 1156. 3( a) . 1/

Inits Response to the
Petition, Respondent submtted a pre-petition payroll roster listing
86 harvest and general |abor enpl oyees eligible to vote in the

el ection. The UFWreceived a majority of the valid votes cast in the
election and, on April 25, 1977, was certified by the Board as the
excl usi ve col |l ective bargaining representative of all agricultural
enpl oyees of Rchard A Qass Conpany, I nc. inthe Sate of

Californi a.g/

Thereafter, on Decenber 19, 1977, the Uhion and Respondent
entered into a conprehensive col |l ective bargai ning agreement to run
through Decenber 1, 1980. A second col |l ective bargai ni ng agreenent was
consummat ed on February 28, 1982, to run through February 27, 1983.
Attorney David E Smith, Respondent’'s counsel at the time of the
representation election and in all subsequent natters rel evant herein,

served as Respondent's

u Al'l section references are to the California Labor Code unl ess

ot herwi se specifi ed.

2/ Bot h the National Labor Relations Board ( NLRB) and the ALRB are
required to define agriculture in conformty with the Fair Labor Sandards
Act (FLSA) of 1933, section3(f), 29 U.S. C. section 203(f) (Bodine
Produce Co. (1964) 147 NNRB 832 [ 56 LRRM1276] ; Labor Code Sections
1140.4(a) and ( b) . ) There is no question that all field and harvest
enpl oyees whose nanes appeared on Respondent's

(fn. 2 cont. on p. 3)
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negotiator and was a signatory to the af oredescri bed docunents. Smth
stipul ated that the two agreenments were essentially the sane and

that the negotiations which culmnated in the 1982 agreenent
commenced prior to the expiration of the initial contract.

Pertinent provisions of the contract provided, inter ali a,
that two weeks prior to the start of any of the Conpany's operations,
Respondent woul d provide the Lhion wth a current roster of seniority
workers in the certified unit; those workers would be recall ed
jointly by Respondent and the Union on no | ess than two weeks
noti ce; Respondent would afford the Union seven days witten notice
of inpending | ayoffs; and, all new hirings woul d be effectuated
through the Union's hiring hall. Respondent al so agreed to keep
the Union apprised as to all |ocations where workers covered by the
agreenent were or would be working. In January 1978, Respondent
advi sed the UFWthat Labor Contractor Gscar Otega and Respondent's
counsel woul d henceforth represent the Rchard A @ ass Conpany in

all natters relative to the agreenent.
(fn. 2cont.)

pre-petition payroll roster are engaged in primary farmng activities
and thus are agricultural enployees within the neaning of the FLSA and
section 1140.4( b) of the Agricultural Labor Relations Act (ALRA or
Act). (Farmer's Reservoir & lrrigation Co. v. MeConb (1949) 337
U.S. 755. Athough the status of the packing shed enpl oyees is not
before us in this proceeding, Resdpondent agreed to |l anguage in the
contract which provides that should either the NLRB or the ALRB rule
that certain shed-related duties are agricultural, enployees in those
categories shall be subject to the provisions of the contract with the
UFW whi ch governs the terns and conditions of enploynent of
Respondent's agricultural enployees. W assume, therefore, that
the status of the packing shed enpl oyees has not been adjudicated by
the NLRB. Accordingly, Respondent’'s contention that those enpl oyees
are not subject to ALRB jurisdiction is a conclusion of |aw not

bi ndi ng on the Board.
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At the time of the election and consummation of the initial
bar gai ni ng agreenment in Decenber 1977, Respondent nornal |y required
t hree seasonal harvest crews conprised of about 20 enpl oyees each,
as well as an indetermnate nunber of enpl oyees responsible for
general year-round nai ntenance and i rrigation. Respondent hired and
supervi sed one of the crews, the so-called "conpany crew, " and
engaged two | abor contractors, one of whomwas Qtega, to assenbl e and
supervi se the renai ning crews.

Respondent stipulated at hearing that citrus workers
traditional ly work on a piece rate basis and agreed that it is common
practice for a newwage rate to be set by the enpl oyer each tine
enpl oyees change gr oves, predicated, on the condition and
productivity of the trees. Wth respect to the nenbers of the
certified unit, however, Respondent could no |longer unilaterally set
the rate. The contract with the UFWprovided for a basic rate pl us,
when war r ant ed, an upward-adj usted surcharge subject to on-the-spot
negot i ati ons between Respondent and the steward for each crew and/ or
the Union. D sputes were subject to arbitration. 8/

During the 1977-1978 season, the parties often failed to

agree on the surcharge. Menbers of the union crews testified that

s/ The arbitrator is contractually bound to accept either

Respondent’'s or the Union's proposed rate and i s precluded from

i ndependent |y setting a different rate. The parties resorted to
arbitration at |east once, as reflected inthe Arbitrator's Report
of June 18, 1979. The WWproposed i ncreases for two crops rangi ng
from6. 77 to 11. 76 percent whereas Respondent proposed increases for
the sane crops ranging from5. 88 to 6. 77 percent. The arbitrator
adopted the conpany's proposals. As to two other crops, the UFW
proposed i ncreases ranging from10 to 11. 11 percent but Respondent
pr(t))posed no i ncrease. The Union's proposal was adopted by the
arbitrator.
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Qtega sonetines nerely declared "t hat's the rate, take it or |eave

I t." The ALJ found nunerous work stoppages during the 1973 and 1979
harvests resulting fromRespondent's failure to negotiate rates in
conformty wth contract provisions. During those tines, according to
the ALJ, other nonunion crews were called in to finish the tasks
initially assigned to union crews. The ALJ also found that the early

| ayof f of two crews on or about May 15, 1979, was directly
attributable to the failure of Respondent and the Union to agree to the
pi ece rate proposed by Respondent, and that union crews were

advi sed that unl ess they accepted Respondent's rate, they should not

expect any nore work that season. 4l

4 Reynal do Zepeda descri bed several instances in which enpl oyees

and t he Oonﬁany both agreed and disagreed on the rate of pay. He
testified that when the parties could not agree, the crewdi d not work,
for up to two weeks at a time, but kept returning to the field to
attenpt to negotiate further. During those times, the craw was
replaced with nonunion crews. Jesus Garcia was the negotiator for the
Ganoa crew, apparently the sane crew in whi ch Zepeda worked. He
testified that the crew woul d be out of work for two or three days at a
tinme during the wage di sputes. Zepeda, Garcia and Raul Galvaz credibly
described the |last day they worked, in My or June of 1979. Zepeda
said the crewobjected to the rate specified by the Conpany and were

advised by Otega, "Wel |, if you're not goingtogoin[to start
wor k], that's it for the rest of the season. And if anybody wants to
go inwithout a union, they cangoi n. " @Glvaz corroborated Zapeda' s

account, adding that the crew had waited from6 a. m. that norning until
noon w thout working in anticipation of a favorabl e response "from the
Gonpany. Finally, QOtega told themthey coul d conti nue wor ki ng, but
not under the Wnion contract. The entire crewleft and did not work
for Respondent the renainder of that season. Respondent does not
contend that the failure of crew menbers to conpl ete the season
invalidated their seniority preference for recall in a subsequent
season. As the layoffs were not the subject of an unfair |abor

practi ce charge, and since the ALJ indicated that the evi dence was

adm ssi bl e for purposes of back%r ound only, the Board declines to find
that Respondent's conduct in that regard constitutes a violation of the
Act subject to remnedy.
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The citrus harvest season in the Coachella Valley runs
generally from Cctober to June. Union crews were recalled in QOctober
1978 in accordance with the contract. However, no unit enployees were
recal led for the start of the 1979-1980 season.gl O April 25,
1980, as the end of the 1979-1980 season approached, and after the UFW
had filed grievances and unfair |abor practice charges alleging, inter
alia, unilateral changes in enpl oyees' terms and conditions of
enmpl oynent, Respondent recall ed one crew.
Al |l eged Diversion of Bargaining Unit Wrk

On Decenmber 24, 1979, the UFWtimely filed an unfair [|abor

practice charge in which it alleged that since on or about Novenber
10, 1979, Respondent elimnated a substantial amunt of bargaining
unit work for discrimnatory reasons by effectuating a change inits
busi ness practices. The UFWalso alleged that Respondent failed to
timely notify the Union and afford it an opportunity to bargain over
the change before it was inplenented or to bargain over the effects of
the change. The conduct was alleged to have violated sections 1153( c)
(discrimnation in empl oyment), 1153( e) (unilateral changes in
contravention of the duty to bargain in good faith) and 1153( a)

(interference wth enpl oyees' section

¥ The only exceptions were four grove tenders, about the same number

as were drawn fromthe unit in the imediately preceding season. Union
menbers recal l ed, but outside the contract, included Maria and Leonel
Lua who had worked under contract through May 1979. Al though both
were recalled for the start of the 1979-80 season, they were not sent
the customary joint notice fromthe uni on. Rather Manual Otega,
Oscar's father, came to their house and instructed themwhere to
ref)ort for work the next day. Mria testified that while there were
only three ranches under union contract in the 1979-1980 season, "W
used to work all the ranches under contract [in prior seasons]."”
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1152 rights).?

Foll owi ng an investigation by the Board's Regional
Office, a conplaint issued based on the charge described above, as
wel | as other charges, and ultinmately was the subject of a ful
evidentiary hearing before an ALJ in which all parties participated.
Inits answer to the conmpl ai nt, Respondent denied all allegations
therein but asserted no affirmative defenses save the genera
statenment that it engaged in no conduct violative of the Act. During
the course of the hearing, Respondent engaged in limted cross
exam nation of CGeneral Counsel's w tnesses but called no wtnesses of
its own. Although Respondent concedes a change, which admttedly
resulted in a dimnution of the anount of work previously avail able
to enployees in the unit covered by the Board's certification order,
Respondent contends that the change was not notivated by reasons
proscribed by the Act but was the result of actions beyond its
control. Respondent's defense, as expressed in a statement of
position set forth in its brief in support of exceptions to the ALJ's
Deci sion, is that unnaned and unspecified nunbers of its grower-
custoners, although continuing to utilize Respondent's harvest
equi pnment and packing and shipping facilities, voluntarily decided
to assume direct responsibility for their own harvest |abor

requirenents and therefore were no

6/ The UFWal so al |l eged that Respondent interrogated enpl oyees
because of their activities on behalf of the Union. As General
Counsel failed to present any evidence in support of the allegation,
it is hereby di sm ssed.
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| onger dependent upon Respondent for that purpose.zl

Thus, the only question before the Board on this issue is
whet her General Counsel has established a prim facie case of unlawf ul
conduct and, if so, whether Respondent's reliance on a nere
statenment of position is sufficient to overcone CGeneral Counsel's
case. For reasons which follow, we conclude that the evidence does
in fact preponderate in support of General Counsel's show ng of
violations of sections 1153(c), (e) and (a) of the Act and that
Respondent's asserted defense is a pretext.

In Cctober and Novenber of 1979, not having received their
anticipated recall notices, a number of unit enployees expressed
concern to the UFWsince ot her Coachella Valley citrus operations had
comenced harvesting for the 1979-1980 season. In the ensuing
weeks, union representatives Leopoldo Trevino and Nancie Jarvis nade
several telephone calls to Ortega's office on behalf of the inquiring
enpl oyees. They were assured each time by Ortega's secretary that
recalls were i mm nent. Enpl oyee Raul Galvaz nade a nunber of visits
to Ortega's office. On each occasion, he was told that Respondent
expected to begin harvesting in about two weeks.

By the tinme Trevino left his enploy with the UFWin

February 1980, no unit enpl oyees had been recalled for the

o General Counsel alleges that Respondent operated at | east
three citrus groves for its own account. Those parcels have been
identified by General Gounsel as Rancho Marca de Or o, Rancho Qo
Verde and Rancho de D amantes. Whless General Counsel's contention
i s di sproved by Respondent during the conpliance phase of this case,
any individual s engaged in agricultural activity on those parcel s,
whet her or not supplied by a [ abor contractor, clearly would be
enpl oyees of Respondent herein and therefore could not be subject to
the def ense.
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harvest. Prior to his departure, he nmade field visits to all
Coachel la Valley citrus groves in which union crews had worked in
years past. He found the same groves bei ng harvested by nonuni on
crews using equi prent bearing the Rchard A d ass Conpany | ogo and
wor ki ng under the direction of the same supervisors and forenen.
Enpl oyee Gal vaz nmade simlar inspections in Novenber, 1979 of at

| east six different ranches with which he was fam | iar, having
worked on themin the i nmedi atel y precedi ng season. He inspected
fourteen different groves in the next three nonths. Mrtually all
of the nonunion crews were supervised by Rogeli o Ganoa, the forenan
of the "conpany crew' in prior years. Eventually Glvaz, Francisco
Rui z and ot her unit enpl oyees becane di scouraged and sought work

el sewhere, thereby relinquishing their seniority preference for
recal | in subsequent seasons.

O Decenber 12, 1979, prior to Trevino' s |eaving but
after the UFWhad filed grievances and unfair |abor practice
charges based on the failure to recall, Respondent's counsel
wote to the Uhion as fol |l ows:

Wrk for the seniority workers will probably conmmence near
the 1st of January, 1980. The reason for this is that the

grapefruit does not have size at the present time on the
ranches whi ch have el ected to have R A dass Co. harvest

their fruit. Seniority workers will, of course, receive
the two weeks advance notice pursuant to the terns of the
contract.

Respondent, through Qtega, ultimately did issue recall notices,
but only in nunbers sufficient to conprise one crew and not until
April 25, 1980, a fewweeks before the normal end of the harvest

season. Respondent had advised the Uhion in witing that harvest
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contracts with individual growers are on an annual basi s, expiring at
the end of each season. Respondent did not explain why, in this

i nstance, it would not have had work avail able for unit enpl oyees at
the begi nning of the season. Mreover, Respondent neither tendered
the two week advance notice of recall nor advised the Lhion that it
intended to recal |l enployees on a date certain, yet both requirenents
are clearly set forth in the bargai ning agreenent. Nancie Jarvis
spoke to Ortega' s secretary to suggest that notices to nore unit

enpl oyees be sent as she did not believe Respondent coul d draw enough
enpl oyees to constitute even one crew. As she pointed out, enployees
had awaited recall for seven nonths and nmany had obtai ned wor k

el sewhere and mght not still be in the area. For the sane reasons,
Jarvis requested that Qtega call her in order to discuss Respondent's
adher ence under these circunstances to the contract provision
specifying that failure to report for work within three days of notice
would result in aloss of seniority. Otega' s secretary later

advi sed her that the conpany intended to strictly enforce the three-
day recal | provision.

Respondent does not contest any of the evidence set forth
above but asserts that although it continued to pack and shi p produce
fromthe various fields observed by Trevino and Gal vaz,
owners of those fields had contracted directly wth Qtega in his

role as a | abor contractor independent of Respondent. 8

& It should be noted that Otega had been a maj or supplier of

| abor to citrus and other growers prior to the el ection herein and,
inaddition, farned his own agricultural hol di ngs.
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Among Respondent' s grower-custoners who al | egedl y changed
their labor policies in the relevant year are two Coachel |l a Val |l ey
operations, nanely, the Sherwood Ranch (20 acres dates, 12 acres
citrus) and Hacienda del Gato (100 acres citrus). Sherwood is owned
by the Fritz Burns Foundation ( Foundati on) whose presi dent, Joseph E
Rawl i nson, has offices in Los Angel es. Sherwood has been | ocal |y
supervised in the Indio area since 1968 by Al Kerwin and has been a
custoner of Respondent's since about 1970. Hacienda del Gato, an
asset in the estate of the late Fritz Burns, had been managed by
Respondent for over 30 years. At all times pertinent herein,
control of the Burns' estate was in the hands of three coexecutors
i ncludi ng Rawl i nson and Frances R Thonas.

Kerwi n hired Sal vador Yanez to oversee the care of the date
crop on the Sherwood Ranch and also to irrigate the citrus. However,
he never assuned any duties with respect to the citrus harvest,
havi ng turned over total responsibility for that aspect of the
operation to Respondent in 1970, an arrangenent which he testified
continues to date wi thout change. As Kerwi n expl ai ned, neither he
nor the Foundation had anything at all to do wth the citrus crop
except to await receipt of a year-end check from Respondent for any
proceeds renai ning after Respondent had deducted all costs. Kerwn
recal | ed havi ng once recei ved what appeared to be a statenent for
harvest | abor costs fromone Gscar Otega in 1980. S nce Kerw n had
never heard of Ortega, he inmedi ately called Respondent to conpl ai n t hat
the billing™ . . . wasn't according to our agreenent . . . we
never paid any bills [for labor or any other costs]." Kerwn returned

the invoice to
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Respondent and heard nothing further about the matter.
Rawl i nson confirmed Kerwi n's recol |l ection of the

I nci dent, adding that the Foundation did not pay the Qtega bill and
had never before or since received such a billing. Mreover, according
to Rawl i nson, he had a preference for the established net hod of doi ng
busi ness with Respondent as it was nore convenient to receive a yearly
statenent with a single check representing profits. In aletter to
the ALRB' s San D ego Regional (fice on Novenber 6, 1980, Raw inson
further explained as fol |l ows:

This year, M. Ben Vallett, Jr. representative of the

R chard A Qass (onpany suggested to M. Kerwi n that we pay

the pickers. M. Kerwntold M. Vallett that we woul d

rat her he paid the pickers as we know not hi ng about that

particul ar phase of the operation and that we woul d j ust

like to deal with the Rchard A d ass Gonpany al one. M.

Kerwin stated that Mr. Vallett agreed to t hat.

As one of the executors of the Burns' estate, and thus
overseer of Hacienda del Gato, Frances Thonas testified that the only
| abor she hired consisted of three year-round mai nt enance enpl oyees
since Respondent handl ed everything el se. She testified further that
Respondent had been hired specifically to pi ck, pack, haul, ship and
market the grapefruit and tangerine crops produced on Hacienda del Gato
and that harvest labor in particular had al ways been handl ed by
Respondent and "t hey still do. " It was customary for Respondent to
send the Burns' executors a single statenent once a year, an end-of -
season breakdown of all costs, including | abor, and a check for
what ever profits renained. Thonas testified that in 1980, for the
first time, she received a bill directly fromQtega for |abor as well
as an advance agai nst that season's harvest fromRespondent, or at |east

"[that's] what they
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say. |It's an advance onthe crop." Thonas estinated that she now
receives as nany as three or four advances per season from Respondent,
drawn on Respondent's account, as well as an invoice fromQtega for

| abor. She testified that the Otega invoice and the d ass advance
arrive in the sane envel ope and the anount of the advance usual |y
approximates or is slightly in excess of the bill for | abor. Thonas
routinely deposits the check fromRespondent and within a few days

i ssues her own check to Ortega. 9f

However, she testified that no one
associated wi th the managenent of the Burns' estate initiated the new
billing procedure, or sought out Ortega, or hired himto provide
| abor. Moreover, she had no idea who was responsible for the change in
practice but did knoww th certainty that it could not have been one of
her coexecutors "because | handled this type of t hing. "

Respondent asserts that while it did not recall union enployees, it
failed to do so for legitimte business reasons. But, in that
regard, Respondent has made only oblique references to a "business

justification," contending that the admtted change in hiring

practices was initiated by customers who | ooked to sources other than

Respondent for their harvest requirements. 1o/

el According to Rawl i nson, the first set of invoices/advances for
| abor for the Hacienda del Gato were issued on March 26, 1980 and My
20, 1980. Rawinson added that he was surprised to | earn that checks
had been issued to Otega by the Burns' estate since "it was ny
understanding that this matter was all taken care of by the Rchard A
d ass onpany. . . It is our cont ent| on that the | abor was al ways
hi red by the R chard A Q ass Conmpany.'

= The Board does not in any manner inply that Respondent's
gr(_)v\er-c_ust omers were not free to make such arrangenents on their own
Initiative; we nerely find that they did not do so.
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However, since its assertion in that regard was directly rebutted by
two customers, we find that the alleged business justification is
not consistent with the facts on record and therefore is not a
| egal | y adequate justification for Respondent's acti ons.

Notwi t hst anding our reliance on a failed defense, there is
anpl e i ndependent evidence in the record to denonstrate a
discrimnatory notive for Respondent's conduct. Respondent ignored
the Union's status and repudiated its own bargained-for provisions of
the collective bargaining agreenent in the follow ng ways: by failing
to provide clearly relevant i nformation, upon request (as devel oped
and di scussed bel ow); by failing to tinely notify the Union of the
change in business practices, which it subsequently conceded; by
fal sely prom sing enpl oyees inmnent recall and thereby m sl eading
them and conveying the inpression that the Union had little or no
power to protect their contractual rights; and, by Otega's
response to enpl oyees who attenpted to enforce the rate-setting
provi sions of the contract in the Spring of 1979.

W find that Respondent has not established that the failure
torecall, a departure fromits past policy, was tied to economc
consi derations, and conclude that the failure to recall was the
product of an inpermssible nmotive in violation of the Act.

The state of the record is such that Respondent's pretext
has been directly denonstrated as to two of its grower-custoners. As
Respondent failed to prove its sole defense, we believe that the

Board is free to infer that the pretext

14 ARB No. 11 14 .



applies to all customers whom Respondent contends voluntarily and

i ndependent |y di scharged Respondent's |abor services for the 1979-
1980 harvest. Lending further authority to the Board's position is
the adverse inference rule which presumes that a party will introduce

all relevant evidence which is favorable to its case. (International

Uni on, United Autonobile, Aerospace and Agricul tural |nplenment
Wor kers of America v. NLRS (Gyrodyne Co.) (B.C. Cir. 1972) 459 F. 2d
1329 [ 79 LRRVI2332].)

Of course, the inference may not be drawn where the evi dence
clearly falls within the ambit of confidentiality or sonme other
validly recognized privilege. Such is not the case here. During the
course of its investigation of the UFW unfair |abor practice
charges, Ceneral Counsel sought, by subpoenas ad testificandum and
subpoenas duces tecum to question Respondent's enployees and to
obtain certain information. Respondent resisted production on the
grounds that the information sought was confidential as it woul d
necessitate revealing details of contractual arrangements wth
custoners. Respondent successfully asserted that defense in a
subsequent subpoena enforcenment action initiated by the Board in the
Superior Court of Riverside County, California. General Counsel
proceeded to attenpt to prove his case by secondary evi dence during
the pendency of the Board's appeal of the ruling of the |ower court.
After the unfair |abor practice hearing had ended, the California
Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District held that since
Respondent di d not contest the relevancy of the information which
CGeneral Counsel sought in the subpoenas duces tecums, but merely

asserted a "trade
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secret" privilege, Respondent had the burden of proving the existence
of a "trade secret"” as well as the burden of denonstrating how
disclosure would injure its business. The court concluded that

Respondent had not succeeded in neeting its burdens. (Agricultural

Labor Relations Board v. Richard A Gass Co., Inc. (1985) 175

Cal . App. 3d 703.) 1Y

Neither may the inference be drawn where rel evant evi dence
or witnesses are available to both parties but are not introduced by
either party. That also is not the case here. Respondent stipulated
that the 21 individuals named in the conplaint and whom Cenera
Counsel sought to exam ne as alleged officers, supervisors or agents
of Respondent, would refuse to testify on any matter or subject
relevant to issues in the conplaint except their names, addresses and
t el ephone numbers.

Thus, we find there is no inpedinment to draw ng an
unfavorabl e inference fromRespondent's failure to call any w tnesses
or to put on any evidence to support its contention that its grower-
customers cancel led their prior arrangenments for Respondent's harvest
services. Therefore, we draw an adverse inference from Respondent's
failure to produce its own principals who had the best know edge as to
why unit work had been eroded. W further draw the inference from
Respondent's failure to permt Otega to testify about his

i ndependent contracts with

gl_Thi s Board acknow edges the validity of the "trade secret”
privilege in appropriate cases and when tinely asserted in accordance
with federal |abor |aw precedents and the analysis of the California
Court of Agpeal as set forth in Agricultural Labor Relations Board v.
Rchard A Gass Co. Inc. (1985) 175 Cal . App. 3d 703. See
di scussion, infra

16.
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Respondent's customers. \here the CGeneral Counsel has produced
strong evidence, Respondent's production of weak evidence or, as
here, no evidence, warrants the inference that the production of
strong evidence woul d have been adverse to Respondent. (The Goodyear

Tire & Rubber Company (1984) 271 NLRB 343 [117 LRRM 10861].)

Accordingly, we infer that Respondent's conduct was
motivated, by sone consideration that Respondent purposely failed to
reveal and that the only notive apparent fromthis record is union
ani mus. As has been observed by the courts:

Actual notive, a state of mi nd, being the question, it
Is seldomthat direct evidence will be avallable that is not
al so self-serving. |In such cases, the self-serving
declaration is not conclusive; the trier of fact may infer
motive fromthe total circunstances proved. O herw se no
person accused of unlawful motive who took the stand and
testified to a |awful notive could be brought to book. Nor is
the trier of fact -- here the trial examner -- required to be
any nore naif than is a judge. |If he finds that the stated
notive for a discharge is false, he certainly can infer that
there is another motive. Mre than that, he can infer that
the notive is one that the e\r/\rEI oyer desires to conceal -- an
unl awful notive -- at |east ere ... the surrounding facts
tend to reinforce that inference.
(Shattuck Denn M ning Corporation (Iron King Branch) v.
NRB(9th Cir. 1966) 362 F.2d 466, 470[ 62 LRRM2401].)

Scrutinizing the reasons put forth by Respondent for failing
to recall the discrimnatees, we are persuaded, and find, as did the
ALJ, that they are not only inplausible on their face but were clearly
refuted by the evidence, specifically, testimny by two of
Respondent's own customers. Accordingly, we find that Respondent
discrimnatorily failed to recall unit enployees for the start of the

1979- 1980 harvest season in violation of sections

17.
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1153 (c¢) and (a) and instituted unilateral changes in business
practices in violation of sections 1153 (e) and ( a) .
Al l eged Failure to Provide Information

On Decenber 10, 1980, the UFWfiled an unfair | abor

practice charge in which it alleged that Respondent viol ated
section 1153(e) and (a) by failing to provide information.

The ALJ summarily disposed of the allegation on the grounds
that (1) he was estopped fromfinding Respondent in violation of the
duty to provide information by a California Court of Appeal ruling
uphol di ng Respondent's contention that the information sought by the
Union was protected by a "trade secret” privilege, and ( 2)
Respondent supplied some of the information requested and/ or the Union
had not exhausted its efforts to obtain the information. W believe
that the ALJ has relied in part on a Superior Court ruling which was

subsequent |y vacat edE/

and that his further analysis finds no basis in
establ i shed principles of |abor-mnagenent rel ations.
As a threshold matter, we observe that the record reveals

only one request by the Union for information within six nmonths of

E/As the rel evant Decision of the Court of Appeals, Agricultural Labor

Rel ati ons Board v. Richard A dass Co., Inc. (1985) 175 Cal . App. 3d
703, did not issue until approximt eldy seven nonths after the ALJ
rendered his Decision herein, we find that his reference to the ruling
on appeal is inadvertent error. In any event, the "trade secret"
privi ege was asserted br t he Respondent onlﬁ_ in response to informtion
sought by General Counsel in preparation of his case relative to the
allegati on that bargaining unit work had been subcontracted in violation
of the Act. The privilege was never asserted to the Union prior to the
filing of the unfair |abor practice char%e which alleges a failure to
provide information. (See, e.g., Oil, Chemcal & Aomc WrKkers'
Uhionv. NNRB(D. C. Cir. 1983) 711 F. 2d 348 [113 LFR\/I3163(] ; Detroit
Edicson)Co. v. NNRB (1979) 440 U. S. 301 [100 LRRM 2728] and di scussi on,
infra.
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the filing of the relevant charge and thus all prior requests for
informati on woul d be subject to the statute of limtations defense of

section 1160. 2. 13/

However, Respondent neither asserted a
limtations defense on this question nor objected to a full
exposition, including the admssion of pertinent exhi bits, pertaining
to allegedly unfulfilled requests for information over a two-year
period preceding the filing of the charge. Mbreover, even though the
initial request for informati on was nade outside the statutory

peri od, the Board nmay exam ne such prior conduct in order to explain
or clarify conduct which occurred within six nonths of the filing of
the charge. (Local Lodge No. 1424 v. NRB(1960) 362 U.S. 411 [45

LRRV3212] .)

Thus, the Board is not precluded fromexamning and, where
warranted, finding violations of the duty to provide informtion
outside the limtations period. (See, Ruline Nursery Co. V.
Agricultural Labor Relations Board (1985) 159 Cal.3d 247, 265 [216
Cal .Rptr. 162]; ASHNEFarns (1980) 6 ARBNo. 9. ) Based on the

evidence which follows, in light of prevailing authority, we will find
that Respondent failed to timely respond to the Union's requests for

clearly relevant information beginning

13 By letter dated June 24, 1980 and hand delivered to Gscar
Ortega, Respondent's labor contractor and designated representative
for matters arising under the bargai ni ng agreenent, UFW
representative Nancie Jarvis advised that she had just |earned that
the crew of Lal o Magana had been wor ki ng under the contract since
sonetine in May of 1980, yet the union had not been so advi sed, as
required by the contract. She specifically called Otega' s attention
to the provisions of Articles 3 (hiring) and 4 (seniority) of the
bar gai ni ng agreenent and asked that he conply by submtting to the
Uhion a list of all enployees working under the contract including
their date of hire and job cl assification. There is no evidence that
the recruest was sati sfi ed.
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in January 1978.

The essential facts were fully litigated and are not in
di spute. For nore than two years follow ng inplenmentation of the
initial collective bargaining agreenent, the Union attenpted, w thout
success, to obtain specific information from Respondent. Although the
Uni on made repeated requests for a variety of information, we
confine our discussion to only that information which falls within two
general categories -- information which Respondent expressly agreed in
the contract to provide (e. g., locations of Conpany operations)
and information relative to grievances in which the Union alleged
t hat Respondent had breached the collective bargaining agreenent by
perform ng bargaining unit work wth nonbargaining unit personnel
(i .e., subcontracting).

On January 30, 1973, the Union submtted a witten
request for information including the sites of citrus harvest
activity as contenplated by the collective bargai ning agreenent

bet ween the parties. 14/ Respondent agreed that same day to supply

all of the information requested by a date certain. Later, after
not having received the prom sed data, particularly that concerning
| ocations, the Union renewed its request. Inits witten reply,
Respondent explained only that it never had any operations in the

West norel and area nor any agricul tural enpl oyees

14/ Article 20 of the agreenent provides as follows: "The Conpany

will provide the Union wth the exact |ocations including total
acreage and crops of all present agricultural operations (and any
acquired or lost during the life of this Agreenment) immedi ately after
the execution of this agreenent, for use by the Union representatives
pursuant to the Rght of Access Article."” Aticle 13, section C
Ist ates: "Conpany wll provide description of Conpany work

ocations."
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in any areas outside the Coachella Valley. Al though there is
uncontroverted evidence that the Union continued to press for
information, particularly work | ocations, Respondent did not at any
time apprise the Union as to the sites of the various groves where
harvest enpl oyees actually were working. As discussed previously,
the Union ultimately attenpted to determ ne which groves Respondent
was harvesting that season by personally inspecting all Coachella
Valley citrus groves which it knew Respondent to have harvested in
previ ous seasons.

On April 23, 1979, the UFWfiled the first of the
grievances in which it alleged that Respondent was perform ng
bargai ning unit work with nonunit enployees. Inits reply, dated
April 24, 1979, Respondent stated that it enployed two crews (the
Zanora and Gaona crews) in accordance with the Union contract and
that it assumed that the grievances pertained to crews working for
citrus growers who only utilized Respondent's shipping services, as
those growers had independently contracted directly with Ortega for
their harvest crews. In a meeting between the parties on May 17,
1979, the Union asked Respondent to substantiate its claimin that
regard. Respondent promsed a full response and, in a subsequent
letter dated June 19, 1979, pledged to supply additional information

"as soon as it can be secured." After several nore phone requests
by the Union, the parties met again, on July 5 1979, to discuss
the grievances and Respondent's as yet unfulfilled assurance that it
woul d denonstrate that growers were themselves hiring and paying
Ortega. The Union advised Respondent that it had tentatively decided

to take matters

14 ALRB No. 11 21.



to arbitration and again requested information for the declared purpose
of assessing whether it would .in fact be advisable to pursue
arbitration. On July 25, 1979, Respondent subnitted an invoice from
Otega for labor supplied to one ranch as well as a copy of a cancelled
check showi ng payment. Respondent al so stated that since the Union had
apparently decided that the matter would be submtted to arbitration,
"I see no reason to supply any additional information. » 15/

It is well settled that section 1153( a) of the Act inposes
upon an enployer the duty to furnish a uni on, upon request,
information rel evant and necessary to enable the union to intelligently
carry out its duties as the enployees' exclusive bargaining
representative. (Holyoke Water Power Co. (1985) 273 NLRB 1369 [118
LRRM1179], enforced (1st Cir. 1985) 778 F. 2d 49 [120 LRRM3487] ;

NLRB v. Acre Industrial Co. (1967) 385 U.S. 432[ 65 LRRM2069] . )

That duty does not termnate upon the consummati on of a collective

bar gai ni ng agreenent but continues unabated during the termof the
agreenent in order to permt the union to police and adm nister the
contract. (NLRB v. Acne Industrial Co., supra; K Kroger Co. (1976)
226 NNRB 512 [ 93 LRRM1315].) Since the duty to supply information

relevant to the union's obligations to adm nister the bargaining
agreement is a statutory one, it is inmmaterial whether a contact is

silent as to information the enployer nust submt; the duty to supply

E/Although the Union continued to request information and
Respondent i ndicated a willingness to submt information through
Decenbber 12, 1979, we do not find Respondent's attenpts at conpliance
to be either conplete or in good faith.
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information exists independent of any agreement between the parties.

(American Standard, Inc. (1973) 203 NLRB 1132 [ 83 LRRM1245].) So

long as the information sought is relevant to the union's responsibility
to admnister the contract, an enployer's failure to provide the
information requested may constitute a failure of the duty to nmeet and
bargain in good faith. (Qurtiss-Wight Corp. (1963) 145 NLRB 152 [ 54
LRRM1320], enforced (3d Cir. 1965) 347 F.2d 61[59 LRRM2433].)

Wth particular reference to grievances and arbitration, it
is equally well settled that an enployer has a duty to provide
information which would allow the union to determine at the outset
whet her there has been a breach of the bargaining agreement. Thus,
the duty to bargain in good faith wthin the nmeaning of section 1155.2
requires an enployer to make available information which woul d enable
the union to nmake an inforned deci sion about whether to process a
grievance and, in particular, to provide information which wuld
assist the union in preparing for arbitration. (NLRBv. Pfizer Co.
(7th Cir. 1985) 763 F.2d 890 [119 LRRM2947]; Mntgonery Vérd & Co.
(1973) 234 NRB588 [ 98 LRRM1022].)

At no time throughout the long course of the Union's attenpt
to secure information with regard to work |ocations did Respondent
assert that the Union was not specific or that it was anbiguous in its
requests. Nor did Respondent ever contend that the information sought
was not contenplated by the contract, otherw se presunptively
irrelevant, overbroad or too burdensone to produce. |Indeed,
Respondent repeatedly acknow edged the validity of the information by

prom sing production, but belatedly advised
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only where its enployees were not working. Thus, Respondent breached
its collective bargaining obligation by not supplying the infornmation
inatimely manner or in a manner useful to the Union. (LaGuardia
Hospital (1982) 260 NLRB 1455 [ 109 LRRM 1371] (enployer responded in
i nadequate and untimely manner); Peyton Packing Co. (1961) 129 NLRB

1358 [ 47 LRRM 1211] (enployer expressly prom sed to provide infornmation
but waited three months to doso); J. I. Case Co. v. NRB(7th Cir.
1958) 253 F. 2d 149 [41 LRRM2679] (cannot produce information in

formnot suitable for informed consideration).)

We reach a simlar result with respect to information sought
for the express purpose of facilitating the grievance/arbitration
process. Respondent's refusal to submt requested information was a
failure of its bargaining obligation inasmuch as the material sought
was "potentially relevant and useful to the representative in
processing grievances under the contractually established grievance
procedure.” (NLRB v. Acne Industrial Co. (-967) 385 U.S. 432[ 64
LRRM2069] .) O factssimlar to those in the present case, the NLRB

recently affirnmed an ALJ's ruling that information sought by the union
concerni ng work done by nonunit enployees was relevant to the union's
function as the enpl oyees' bargaining representative and, therefore,
the enpl oyer's refusal to provide that information constituted a
violation of the duty to bargain. (Crittenden Construction Conpany,
Inc. (1987) 287 NLRB No. 17 [127 LRRM1344].) In Cittenden, supra

the ALJ reasoned that while there is no presunption that information

regarding the "generic description of
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wor k being performed" by an enployer is relevant, it was so deened in
that case because of the union's reasonable suspicions that unit work
was being diverted. As he explained, "[ T] he information sought is
rel evant to whether or not any work perforned on the LaFarge job is of
a type that the contract between respondent and [the union] requires
[that it be] assigned to enployees represented by the [uni on]." He
found a strong probability that the information would be useful to the
union in eval uating whether the contract may have been viol ated and
woul d al so enabl e the union to make an informed decision as to whet her

to go forward to grievance and arbitration. W find Cittenden,

supra, controlling. The information sought in the instant case was
necessary to the Union's intelligent processing of its grievance
concerning Respondent's alleged violation of contract provisions and
possi bl e erosion of unit work through assignment of jobs to
unrepresented enpl oyees. As such information was clearly relevant to
a material issue in the grievance, it had potential relevance to the
Union's statutory obligation to represent enployees within its
certified unit. (Washington Gas Light Co. (1984) 273 NLRB 1.16 [118
LRRV1001] . )

| ndependent of the decision of the California Court of
Appeal , ruling invalid Respondent's assertion of a "trade secret”
privilege in the instant case, the NLRB and various federal courts
have established simlar as well as additional grounds for rejecting
an enmpl oyer's claimof confidentiality such as the one here.
Respondent's failure to assert the defense until after General

Counsel had sought essentially the sanme information as had
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the union nay, by anal ogy, be sufficient to invalidate the defense

outright. (Oil, Chemcal & Atomc Wrkers nionv. NNRB( D. C. Cir.

1983) 711 F.2d 348, fn. 6[113 LRRM3163] .)ﬁl Moreover, a nere

claimof privilege will not support an enpl oyer's categorical refusal

to supply information. (Oil, Chemcal & Atomc Wrkers Union,

supra.) There must be "a nore specific denonstration of a confidential
interest in the particular information requested." (Washington Gas
Light Co. (1984) 273 NNRB 116, 117 [118 LRRM1001].) As the
Supreme Court indicated in Detroit Edison Co. v. NNRB (1979) 440 U. S.
301 [ 100 LRRM2728], the NLRB nust be permtted to bal ance the

union's need for information against the legitimte and substanti al
confidentiality interests of the enployer. Here, however, as in NLRB
v. Pfizer Co. (7th Cir. 1985) 753 F.2d 890 [ 119 LRRV2947],
Respondent appears to have argued that since contractual arrangenents
wth its grower-custoners are per se confidential, it need not be
required to explain the need for confidentiality. The court held that
an enpl oyer's bare assertion that the infornmation sought is
confidential does not entitle it to resist production with inpunity.

The facts in 0 & Glndustries, Inc. (1984) 269 NRB 986

[116 LRRM1046] are particularly instructive as the enpl oyer-

respondent in that case also asserted confidentiality of

16/ The court quoted from German, Basic Text on Labor Law ( 1976)
page 417 as follows: "If the conpany does w sh to assert that a
request for information is too burdensone, this nust be done at the
tinme the information is requested and not for the first time during
the unfair |abor practice proceeding. "
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contracts as grounds for resisting information sought by the uni on.
After respondent, a general contractor, had been awarded a road
construction project within the union's territorial jurisdiction,
It contracted with a nonunion supplier to provide various nmaterial for
the project. Thus, as respondent advised the union, it would not
need to enpl oy any union nmenbers. The union filed a grievance in
which it alleged that respondent had violated the collective
bar gai ni ng agreenent by contracting out unit work. In reply,
respondent contended that under its contract with the supplier, it
had no title in or control of the naterials until delivered to the job
site. The NLRB affirnmed the ALJ's finding that the uni on asked for
a copy of the contract in order to verify respondent's contention
"and also to determne whether respondent, under the contract, has
retai ned substantial control of the work bei ng done by enpl oyees on
[the supplier's] payroll who were delivering the [construction
materials]."” The NLRB specifically rejected respondent's refusal
to deliver the contract on the grounds that it was a "busi ness
arrangenent" between respondent and the supplier, a claimcharacterized
by the NNRB as "rest[ing] on sone general claimof privilege."
Goncl usi on

Havi ng found that Respondent has engaged in certain unfair
| abor practices, we shall order Respondent to cease and desi st from
failing to recall enployees, or instituting unilateral changes in
its enployees' terns and conditions of enpl oynment without first
affording the Union notice and an opportunity to bargai n about such

changes, and to cease and desist fromfailing
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to provide the Uni on, upon request, relevant infornation necessary to
its ability to police and admnister the contract in an inforned
nmanner .

In order to renedy the discrimnatory diversion of
bargai ning unit wor k, we shall order Respondent to offer all affected
enpl oyeesg/ full and imedi ate reinstatement to their forner
positions, dismssing, if necessary, new enpl oyees to nmake room for
the discrimnatees, without prejudice to their seniority or other
rights and privileges and to make themwhol e for any | oss of earnings
they may have suffered by reason of the di scrimnation against them
by payment of a sumof noney equal to the amount that they nornally
woul d have earned as wages fromthe date of the discrimnatory failure
of recall to the date of a bona fide offer of reinstatenent, |ess net
earnings, and wth interest thereon, in accordance wth established
Board precedent.

Final ly, Respondent's disregard for, and violation of, its
col | ectively bargai ned-for agreenent evidences bad faith.
Respondent's conduct was in contravention of the basic policy of the
Act whi ch encourages the practice and procedure of the collective
bargai ni ng agreenent. Therefore, we wll direct Respondent to
bargain in good faith wthin the nmeaning of section 1155.2 of the

Act .

Y our order will cover the named discrimnatees listed in par agraph

24 of the Third Anended Conplaint in this matter as well as the Does 1
through 50, if any, referenced in that sane paragraph The latter
represents alleged discrimnatees whose nanes were not known to nor
obtai nabl e by the General Counsel. (See also General Counsel's
Exhibit No. 25 which the parties agree is the relevant seniority |ist
for purposes of recall in the 1979-1980 harvest season.)

28.
14 ALRB No. 11



ORDER

By authority of Labor Code section 1160. 3, the
Agricultural Labor Relations Board (ALR3 or Board) orders that
Respondents, R chard A @ ass Gonpany, | nc., DM Packing Corporation,
doi ng business as R. A. dass Gonpany, Rancho Marca de o, Rancho Qo
Verde, Rancho de D amantes, and their owners, officers, agents,
representatives, successors and assigns shall:
1. GCease and desist from

(a) Refusing to rehire or otherw se discrimnating
agai nst agricultural enpl oyees because of their participation in
union or other protected concerted activities.

(b) Instituting or inplementing any changes in any of its
agricultural enployee's terns or conditions of enployment, including
the diverting or subcontracting of unit work and the failure to hire or
recal |l enployees pursuant to the seniority and recall provisions of the
col l ective bargai ni ng agreenent, wthout first notifying and affording
the Uhited FarmWrkers Uni on, AFL-AQO (UFWor Union), an
opportunity to bargain with the Respondents concerning such changes.

(c) Failing or refusing to supply the Uni on, upon request,
with information contenpl ated by the coll ective bargai ni ng agr eenent
or wth any other infornmation relevant to the Union's obligations to
admni ster the contract.

(d) Inany like or related manner interfering with,
restraining or coercing any agricultural enployee in the exercise of
the rights guaranteed in section 1152 of the Act.

2. Take the follow ng affirmati ve actions which ara

deened necessary to effectuate the purposes of the Act.
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(a) Imediately offer to enpl oyees who were not recalled
for the start of the 1979-1980 harvest season full reinstatenent to
their former jobs or substantially equival ent enpl oynent w thout
prejudice to their seniority or other enploynent rights and
privileges, and reinmburse themfor all |osses of pay and ot her
econom ¢ | osses they may have suffered as a result of Respondents’
unl awf ul conduct, reinbursement to be made according to Board
precedent, plus interest thereon conputed in the manner prescribed by

the Board in E W Merritt Farms (1983) 14 ALRB No. 5.

(b) Should the Union so request, rescind the unilateral
changes heretofore nade in enployees' terms and conditions of
enpl oynent .

(c) Upon request, make available to the Union all
information relevant and necessary to its obligations to admnister
the collective bargaining agreement or to otherw se represent unit
enpl oyees in an informed manner.

(d) Upon request, nmeet and bargain in good faith with the
UFW as t he excl usive bargaining representative of its agricultural
enpl oyees and enbody any understanding reached in a signed agreenent.

(e) Preserve and, upon request, nake available to this
Board and its agents, for exam nation, photocopying, and otherw se
copyi ng, all personnel records, social security paynent records,
ti mecards, and other records rel evant and necessary to a
determ nation by the Board of the backpay period and anounts of
backpay and interest due to the Respondents' enployees under the

terns of the Board's order.
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(f) Signthe Notice to Agricultural Enployees attached
hereto, and after its translation by a Board agent into appropriate
| anguages, reproduce sufficient copies in each | anguage for the
purposes set forth hereinafter.

(g) Post copies of the Notice in all appropriate |anguages
at conspi cuous places on Respondents' property, including places where
notices to enployees are usually posted, for sixty (60) days, the
tinmes and places of posting to be determned by the Regional Director.
Respondent shall exercise due care to replace any copies of the Notice
whi ch may be altered, defaced, covered or renoved.

(h) Mil copies of the Notice in all appropriate
| anguages within 30 days after the issuance of this order to al
enpl oyees enpl oyed by Respondents at any time during the 1978-1979
and 1979- 1980 citrus harvest seasons.

(i) Arrange for a Board agent or representative of
Respondents to distribute and read the attached Notice, in all
appropriate | anguages, to its enployees assenbl ed on Respondents’' tine
and property, at the tines and places to be determ ned by the Regiona
Director. Following the reading, a Board agent shall be given the
opportunity, outside the presence of supervisors and managenent, to
answer any questions the enpl oyees may have concerning the Notice or
enpl oyee rights under the Act. The Regional Director shall detern ne
a reasonabl e rate of conpensation to be paid by Respondent to al
non-hourly enpl oyees to conpensate themfor lost work time during the

readi ng and the question-and-answer period.
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(1) Notify the Regional Drector in witing wthinthirty
(30) days after the date of the issuance of this order of the steps
Respondent has taken to conply with its terns and to continue to
report periodically thereafter, at the Regional Director's request,
until full conpliance is achieved.
DATED. Qctober 21, 1988

BEN DAVI DI AN, Chai r man2

JON P. McCARTHY, Menber

| VONNE RAMOS- RI CHARDSON, Menber

1—B/The signatures of Board Menbers in all Board Decisions appear

wth the signature of the Chairnan first (i f participating), followed
by the signatures of the participating Board Menbers in order of
their seniority. Mnbers Smth and Gnot did not participate in the
consideration of this matter.
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NOTI CE TO AGRI CULTURAL EMPLOYEES

After a trial at which each side had a chance to present facts, the
Agricul tural Labor Rel ations Board found that we violated the | aw by
refusing to rehire agricultural enployees because of their
participation in union or other protected concerted activities; by
Instituting changes in enployees' terms and conditions of enpl oyment
wi thout first notifying and affording the UFWan opportunity to
bargain with the conpany concerning such changes; and by failing or
refusing to provide the Union with relevant information which it
request ed.

The Agricultural Labor Relations Board has told us to send out and
post this notice. W wll do what the Board has ordered us to do.
W also want to tell you that the Agricultural Labor Relations Act is

a law that gives you and all other farmworkers in California these
rights:

To organi ze yoursel ves;
Toform join, or help unions;
To vote in a secret ballot election to decide whether you wane a
union to represent you;
To bargain wth your enployer about your wages and working
conditions through a union chosen by a majority of the
enpl oyees and certified by the Board;
5. To act together with other workers to help and protect one
anot her; and
6. To decide not to do any of these things.

B wbhrE

Because this is true, we promse that:

VE WLL NOT do anything in the future that forces you to do, or
stops you fromdoing any of the things listed above. Especially:

WE WLL NOT fail or refuse to rehire or reinstate, and will not in
any ot her nmanner discrimnate against any enployee in regard to his

or her enploynent, because he or she has joined or supported the UFW
or any other |abor organization.

VWE WLL notify and bargain with the UFW before making any changes in
t he wages, hours and working conditions of our agricultura
enpl oyees.

WE W LL, if the Union so requests, rescind the unilateral changes we
made in your ternms and conditions of enploynent.

VWE W LL, upon request, provide the UFWwi th information that is

rel evant and necessary for the union to represent our enployees as
their exclusive collective bargaining representative.
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VE WLL offer to reinstate all enpl oyees who were laid off or who
were not rehired to their former jobs in the 1979- 1980 harvest
season without prejudice to their seniority rights or any ot her
enpl oyrment rights and privileges and rei nburse themfor all |osses
of pay and other economc | osses they may have suffered as a result
of our unlawful conduct, plus interest thereon.

DATED: RI CHARD A. GLASS COVPANY, | NC

By:

(Representative) (Title)

| f you have any questions about your rights as farmworkers or about
this Notice, you may contact an?/ office of the Agricultural Labor
Rel ations Board. One office is [ocated at 319 Waterman Avenue, El
Centro, California 92243. The tel ephone number is (619) 353-2130.

This is an official Notice of the Agricultural Labor Relations
Board, an agency of the State of California.

DO NOT' REMOVE OR MJTI LATE.
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CASE SUMVARY

Rchard A Gass Gonpany, | nc. , 14 AARB No. 11

DMB Packi ng Corp. dba Case Nos. 79- @2- 36- SD

R. A. Qdass Conpany, Rancho 79- CE-37-3D

Marca de Or o, Rancho O o Verde, 79- CE- 38- SD

Rancho de D amant es 79- CE- 40- SD
80 CE-75-SD
80- CE-99- SD

Backgr ound

Respondent engages i n the packing and shi pping of citrus comodities
and for that purpose nmaintains a packing facility in Indio,
California. Respondent al so provides conpl ete harvesting services
for independent growers including the hiring and supervision of field
and harvest crews who conprise Respondent's agricultural enpl oyees.
In 1978, those enpl oyees el ected the United Farm Wrkers of

Anerica, AFL-AQ as their exclusive representative for purposes of
col l ective bargaining. 1In 1978 and again in 1982, Respondent
entered into a conprehensive col | ective bargai ning agreenent with the
UFWcoveri ng Respondent's enpl oyees' wages and ot her terns and
conditions of enployrment. The agreenent al so provided that
Respondent and the Union would jointly recall enployees according to
seniority at the beginning of the harvest season and that Respondent
woul d keep the Union apprised as to the various sites where its

enpl oyees were working. At the start of the 1979-1980 citrus
harvest season, Respondent di d not recall any nenbers of the
certified bargaining unit, pronpting the UFWto file unfair |abor
practice charges in Decenber, 1979, alleqgi n% that Respondent had
discrimnatori | K failed to recall enployees because of their union
activities and had diverted the work nornal |l y assigned to themto
nonuni on Ccr ews. The Union al so al |l eged t hat ResPondent had t her eby
i npl enented unl awful unilateral changes in its enpl oyees' terns and
conditions of enploynent and had failed to provide the Union with

rel evant information upon request in violation of the duty to bargain
in good faith.

Adm ni strative Law Judge Deci si on

Pursuant to an investigation of the unfair |abor practice charges, a
conpl ai nt i ssued based on al | egati ons whi ch were the subj ect of an
evidentiary proceeding in which all parties participated. The A.J
found t hat, fromQctober 1979 through May 1980, Respondent
subcontracted out bargai ning unit work on ranches historically picked
by Uni on nenbers and concl uded that Respondent failed to recall
seniority enployees in the 1979 season because of their Union
menbership. The ALJ rejected Respondent's contention that the
change from Uni on to nonuni on enpl oyees was the result of its
custoners having i ndependently hired their own |abor contractors.
Based on his perception of the evi dence, he concluded that



Respondent had engaged in a series of transactions in order "t o escape
responsibility and liability under the [ Act] . " He also found that
Respondent's failure to recall enployees, wthout having first
notified and bargained with the Uni on, constituted an unl awf ul

uni |l ateral change in enpl oyees' terns and conditions of enpl oynent.
The ALJ dismssed the alleged refusal to provide information on the
basis of ajudicial ruling which he interpreted to mean that the

i nformati on sought was protected by a "trade secret"” privilege which
Respondent had assert ed.

Board Deci si on

In evaluating the alleged diversion of bargaini ng unit wor k, and
Respondent's failure to recall Union enpl oyees tor the pertinent
harvest season, the Board found that General Counsel had presented a
prima facie case of unlawful discrimnation and that Respondent's

sol e defense was a nmere pretext. A though Respondent conceded a change
inhiring practices, it contended that the change was beyond its
control - that it was the result of its customers independently and
voluntarily choosing to cease contracting w th Respondent for
harvesting services and to nake private arrangenents wth Respondent's
| abor contractor. Respondent neither called any w tnesses or

i ntroduced any docunentary evi dence in support of the defense, relying
instead on a nere statement of position. However, two of Respondent's
custonmers who ostensibly severed their harvest contracts with
Respondent were called by General Counsel. According to their
testinony, neither initiated any changes as to | abor and insisted that
Respondent continued to harvest, haul, pack and ship their produce
just as in prior seasons. They di d, however, describe what appears to
have been a change in billing procedure by whi ch the custoner

si mul taneously receives an invoice for | abor, payable directly to the

| abor contractor, as well as an advance agai nst year-end profits from
Respondent. (ne custoner testified that both the invoice and the
advance arrive in the same envel ope and that the advance usual |y equal s
or slightly exceeds the bill for | abor. Based on their uncontroverted
testinony, the Board concluded t hat, as tothem Respondent's defense
clearly was non-existent. The next question was whet her the Board

coul d draw an adverse inference fromRespondent's failure to call

w tnesses or to put on evidence and thus whether the inference could be
extended to all renai ning customers whom Respondent apparently cl ai ned
had cancel l ed their harvest contracts. The Board ultimately answered
that question in the affirmative and ordered Respondent to of fer

imredi ate reinstatement to all enpl oyees who shoul d have been recall ed
and to reinburse themfor all economc |osses resulting from
Respondent' s di scri m nati on.

Wth regard to the requests for i nformation, the Board found that the
Uni on, over a period of two years, had requested w t hout success
informati on which was statutorily relevant to its obligation to
represent enpl oyees as well as specific information
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(e.g., work |locations) which Respondent had expressly promsed to
provide by virtue of the collective bargai ning agreenent. The Board
also found that the ALJ, in ruling ot herw se, has inadvertently
relied on a Superior Court decision which had hel d that Respondent
withheld infornmation on the basis of a valid trade secret privil ege.
However, that ruling was reversed by a California Court of Appeal
prior to issuance of the ALJ's Declsion. Accordingly, Respondent
was ordered to cease and desist fromfailing or refusing to provide
the UFW upon request, with informati on necessary and rel evant to
carry on its bargaining agent responsibilities in an inforned manner.

This Case Sunmary is furnished for information only and i s not an
official statenent of the case, or of the ALRB.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

ROBERT L. BURKETT, Adm nistative Law Judge:

The hearing in this matter began on Septenber 21, 1982, and
spanned two years during which tinme there were nunerous notions,
conti nuances, and two separate Superior Court actions. The nmatter was
concl uded on Septenber 11, 1984. Proceedings were held at various
| ocations in Coachella Valley and Los Angel es.

The CGeneral GCounsel, the Respondent, and the United Farm
VWrkers of Anerica, AFL-A Q the Charging Party (hereafter the UFW
were represented throughout the proceedi ngs (however, the UFWwas not
always present). Briefs were filed by the Charging Party and the
Respondent. Vari ous nenoranda and subpoenaes duces tecumwere al so
filed and served by the parties before and during the course of the
heari ng.

The UFWfiled six unfair |abor practice charges agai nst
Respondent s whi ch served as the basis of the conplaint. The charges
had the following file dates: 79-CE 36-SD dated 12/24/79; 79-CE-37-SD
dated 12/27/79; 79-CE-38-SD dated 12/27/79; 79-CE-40-SD dated
12/ 27/ 79; 80-CE-75-SD dated 10/ 24/80; 80-CE-99-SD dated 12/10/80. They
were all tinmely served on Respondents.

Uoon the entire record, including ny observation of the
deneanor of the w tnesses, and after consideration of the argunents,
nmenoranda, and briefs of the parties, | nake the follow ng:

FI NDINGS AND CONCLUSI ONS

JUR SDI CTI ON

Nei t her the Respondent nor the UFWchal | enged the Board's

jurisdiction. Accordingly, I find the Respondent is an agricultural



enpl oyer within the neaning of Labor Code section 1140.4( c), and
that the UFWis a l|abor organization within the neaning of Labor
Mode section 1140. 4(f).
1. BACKGROUND

At the heart of this case are allegations by the Charging
Party and the General Counsel that Respondents unilaterally determ ned
to subcontract out bargaining unit work previously perforned inits
groves, and did so by a series of corporate transfers whose i ntent was
toin part diguise the true identity of Rchard A dass and its
successors. The underlying unfair |abor practice charges as set forth
in Paragraphs 27, 28, 29, 30 and 31 of General Counsel's Third
Arended Consol i dated Conplaint rely in | arge nmeasure on substantiating
its subcontracting and successorship allegations.

I11. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. History
O January 13, 1977, a representation petition was filed by
the UFWin case nunber 77-RGI1-C An election was held January 19,
1977, and the UFWreceived the najority of the votes cast. On April
25, 1977, the Board certified the UFWas the col | ective bargai ni ng
representative for all agricultural enployees of the Rchard A QG ass
Gonpany, Inc. (also referred to as the R. A. Qdass Gonpany, Inc.).
Uncontradi cted evidence established that at the time of the
el ection there were three crews harvesting citrus for R. A. dass
Conpany, Inc. These crews were: The Joseph R Sanchez | abor

contractor crewin Blythe, California, the Gscar Otega | abor



contractor crewin the Coachella area, and a crew hired directly by
R chard A G ass, also in the Coachel |l a area.

The testinony establishes that shortly after the UFWand
R. A. Qass signed their first collective bargai ning agreenent in
Decenber 1977, the Qass crewwas transferred to | abor contractor Gscar
QOtega who thereafter paid the crewdirectly.

After the UFWs certification, there were nunerous
negoti ati on sessions covering the period fromApril 27, 1977 through
Decenber 16, 1977 (twel ve such sessions as stipulated to by counsel ),
which led to the signing of a collective bargai ning agreenent on Decenber
19, 1977. The agreenent expired Decenber 1, 1980.

A second col | ective bargai ni ng agreenent was entered i nto by
R. A. Qass Gonpany and the UFWon February 28, 1982 and expired on
February 27, 1983. It is the Respondent's position that the R chard
A dass Conpany whi ch signed the second agreenent differs inits
entirety fromthe R. A. dass which signed the original contract in
1977.
B. The Conpl ai nt

1. | find, as a result of uncontroverted evi dence presented
by General Counsel, that Respondent, R chard A dass Conmpany, | nc.,
was a California corporation engaged in grow ng, harvesting, and
handling of citrus crops in Rverside County until its dissolution
sonetine in 1980.

2. | find, as a result of uncontroverted evi dence
presented by General Counsel, that Respondent, R chard A dass

Gonpany, I nc., was at all tines relevant herein an agricul tural



enpl oyer wthin the neani ng of Labor Gode section 1140.4( c) .

3. | find, as a result of uncontroverted evi dence
presented by General Counsel, that Respondents Rancho Marca de Or o,
Rancho O o Verde, and Ranch de D anantes were California corporations
engaged in citrus farmng operations in Rverside Gounty until their
di ssol ution sonetine in 1978.

4. The evidence presented does not denonstrate that the
assets of Rancho Marca de O o, Rancho O o Verde, and Rancho de
D anantes, were owned or controlled by Rchard A d ass Conpany,

Inc., or by the officers, directors or sharehol ders of Rchard A 4 ass
Gonpany, I nc., during the relevant period of tinme. Despite the huge
anount of docunentary evidence presented by General Gounsel, proof of
owner shi p of the above-naned properties by Rchard A G ass was never
subst anti at ed.

5. Wile proof of ownership of the above properties was not
establ i shed by the evidence, the testinony of the workers, of the UFW
representatives, and the evidence contained in the docunents submtted
in evidence during the course of this hearing, do clearly establish a
strong circunstantial case that Rancho Marca de O o, Rancho O o Verde,
and Rancho de D amantes were at the very least joint enployers wth
R chard @ ass Gonpany and forned an integrated agricul tural business
operation wth Rchard A Qdass Gonpany, |nc.

Gounsel for Respondent woul d have us believe that,
coincidental Iy, during a very short period follow ng the UFWs
certification for the Rchard A dass workers, a nunber of conveyances

occurred which dramati cal |y changed the work makeup of



R chard A dass Gonpany, Inc. | amconvinced, based on the evi dence
presented and ny assessnment of the credibility of the wtnesses, that
t he Respondents engaged i n a deceptive and wel | thought out schene the
sol e purpose of which was to subvert the collective bargai ni ng agr eenent
R. A. Qass had signed wth the UFW and to create the fiction that
d ass was nerely a commerci al packing shed, no |onger involved in
agricultural enploynent within the purview of our Act.

Wi | e counsel for Respondent argues that the testinony
presented by General Counsel regarding the Sherwood Ranch has no
rel evance in this hearing because it does not refer to an act charged
by the UFW | find the conduct of Respondent with regards to both the
Sherwood Ranch and the F. Patrick Burns Estate to be nost relevant in
that it provides insight into Respondent's state of mnd and its plan
of divesting itself of agricultural operations subject to the Act;
there is an attenpt to change its established business practices to
create the illusion that it was the grower/producer who was payi ng and
hiring Gscar Otega rather than to Rchard A G ass, as it had in the
past .

6. | find, based on uncontroverted evi dence presented by
General Qounsel, that Vaquero Farns Inc. is a Galifornia corporation
doi ng business in Stanislaus and R versi de counti es.

7. | find, based on uncontroverted evidence presented by
General Gounsel, that Vaquero Farns is an agricultural enpl oyer wthin
the neaning of Labor (ode section 1140.4( c) .

8. General Counsel's Exhibits 18b, ¢, d, e, f, g, and h

denonstrate that Rchard A QG ass Gonpany, | nc., conveyed various



parcel s of property in Coachella and R verside counties to Vaquero
Farns, I nc.'s directors and officers. General Counsel's Exhibit 19c is
the Notice of |Issuance of Securities filed Qctober 20, 1977, whereby
Vaquero Farns, Inc. purchased the entire stock of Rchard A° d ass
Conpany, Inc. Ceneral Counsel Exhibit 19-j is a business card of Louis
P. Sousa indicating that he is president of Rchard A d ass Conpany,

I nc. "a wholly owned subsidiary of Vaquero Farns, Inc. "

Onh Cctober 4, 1977, the assets of Rchard A Qass Inc. were
sold to the officers and directors of the principals of Vaquero Farns,
Inc. O Qctober 20, 1977, all the stock of Rchard A dass Conpany,
Inc. was sold to Vaquero Farns, Inc. R chard A dass Conpany, | nc.,
however, was not di ssol ved but becane a subsidiary of Vaquero Farns,
Inc. The takeover of R chard A dass Gonpany, | nc. by Vaquero Farns,
I nc. was preceded by Louis B. Sousa formng a corporation called "Louis

B. Sousa, I nc. and filing articles of incorporation for this new
corporation on Septenber 15, 1977. On Qctober 17, 1977, three days
after the assets of Rchard A dass Conpany, Inc. were transferred to
the directors and officers of Vaguero Farns, | nc., Louis B. Sousa
filed an anendnent to the articles of incorporation of this corporation
changing its nane to Rchard A d ass Gonpany, |nc.

Based on the evidence presented, | find that sone time in
1977, Vaquero Farns, I nc., its officers, directors or sharehol ders,
purchased the assets of Rchard A dass Conpany, Inc. resulting in

R chard A° dass Conpany, Inc. becomng a wholly owned subsidiary of

Vaquero Farns, |nc.



9. Based on the uncontroverted evi dence presented by General
Qounsel , specifically, General Counsel's Exhibits 18k, g and w | find
that, in 1977, Vaquero Farns, I nc., or its officers, directors or
shar ehol ders, purchased the assets including real properties of,
Rancho Marca de 0o, Rancho G o Verde, and Rancho de D anantes.

10. | find, based on the uncontroverted evi dence presented
by General (ounsel, specifically, General Gounsel Exhibit 19-i, and
General Counsel's 18-i, j, k, 14, m o, p, q, r, S, t, u, v, W X, YV,
and z, that Rancho Marca de O o, Rancho G o Verde and Rancho de
D anantes constituted, at all tines material herein, an integrated
agricultural business enterprise wth Vaquero Farns, |nc.

11. | find that DMB Packing Corporation is a Del anare
corporation doi ng business in Rverside Gounty as admtted by
counsel for Respondents.

12. It is the position of the Respondents that DVB Packi ng
Cor poration which was stipulated to have obtained a fictitious business
license as "Rchard A Qass Gonpany, | nc. ", purchased assets that
bore little or no relationship to the original Rchard A 4 ass
Gonpany, Inc. In General Counsel's Exhibit 22-bb, David Smth,
counsel for Respondents, wote to Nancy Jarvis stating that the assets
of Rchard A dass Gonpany, I nc. had been purchased by DMB Packi ng
Gorporation. Once again | find that this assertion strains credulity.
General Gounsel properly points out that a nunber of parcels of real
property are traceable fromthe original Rchard A G ass Conpany,

Inc. tothe officers and directors of Vaquero Farns, I nc., and

finally to DMB. Wile it is true that



there is a gap in succession or in owlership resulting in part on
General Qounsel 's unsuccessful attenpt to subpoena docunents whi ch have
been protected by the Court of Appeal s under claimof trade secret
privilege, the information contai ned i n General Counsel's Exhibits 20-
a, 18-b, 18-c, 18-d, 18-h, 18-w 18-q, 18-dd, 19-o0 and 19-b presents
an overwhel mng anount of circunstantial evidence indicating that DVB
Packing i s successor to the original Rchard A Q@ ass Conpany t hrough
Vaquero Farns and through further unknown ownership. O that basis, |
find that DMB Packi ng CGorporation continued the original agricultural
operations of Rchard A dass npany, |nc.

| therefore find that DMB Packing is an agricul tural enpl oyer
w thin the meani ng of Labor Code section 1140.4( c) of the Act.

| find that in 1979, DMB Packing Corporation or its
officers, directors or sharehol ders purchased the assets of R chard A
dass, Inc. fromVaquero Farns, Inc. or the officers, directors or
sharehol ders of Vaquero Farns, | nc., or the successors of Vaquero
Farns, | nc.

| find that in 1979, DMB Packing or its officers, directors
or sharehol ders, purchased real properties known as Rancho Marca de
G o, Ranch G o Verde, and Rancho de D amantes from Vaquero Far ns,
I nc., its officers, directors or sharehol ders, or its successors.

I find that Rancho Marca de G o, Rancho O o Verde, and Rancho
de D amantes were, at all times relevant herein, alter egos of or
joint enployers with DMB Packing or forned an integrated agri cul tural

busi ness operations enterprise wth DVMB Packi ng



Cor por at i on.

| find that subsequent to the transactions described in
Par agraphs 14 and 15 in the conplaint, DVB Packing filed an
application for a fictitious business |license to do busi ness as
R chard A Qd ass Conpany, |nc.

13. | find, as admtted, that the UFWis now and at al
tinmes material herein has been a | abor organi zation within the nmeaning
of Labor Code section 1140.4( f ) doing business in R verside Gounty.

14. | find that on Decenber 19, 1977, Rchard A Qdass
Conmpany, Inc. and the UFWentered into a col | ective bargai ni ng agr eenent
covering the agricultural enployees of Rchard A° dass Gonpany, Inc.

15. | find, based on uncontroverted evidence presented by
General Counsel that on February 23, 1982, the U”Wand DVB Packi ng
doi ng business as R chard A d ass Conpany, entered into a collective
bar gai ni ng agreenent covering the agricultural enpl oyees of DMB Packi ng
doi ng business as Rchard A @ ass Conpany, and that this agreenent
expi red February 27, 1983.

16. | find that the collective bargai ning agreenents
nmenti oned in Paragraphs 20 and 21 of the conplaint were negotiated on
behal f of Rchard A° dass Conpany and DMB Packi ng doi ng busi ness as
R chard A dass Conpany by David E Smth who is representing R chard
A dass Conpany and DMB Packing Corp. in the present proceedings. |
base this finding upon the uncontroverted evi dence presented by Ceneral
Counsel .

17. | find, based on the uncontroverted evi dence oresented
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by General Counsel and on the findings above, that at all tines
material herein DMB Packing Corporation is a successor to R chard A
d ass Gonpany, I nc. under the Act.

18. At all tines material, the persons |isted under
Par agraph 24 of the Conplaint were and are agricul tural enpl oyees
within the meaning of section 1140.4( b) of the ALRA as stipulated to
by counsel at the hearing.

19. | find that as stipulated to by counsel, the persons
named in Paragraph 25 of the Conplaint have at all times materi al
her ei n been supervi sors and agents of Respondents wi thin the neani ng of
section 1140.4(j) of the Act except for Manuel QOtega and those
persons listed beginning with Ann P. Costa and runni ng t hrough John
Fedele. | note that Lal o Magana shoul d have been |isted as Euralio
Magana and that it was stipulated that Gscar Otega is a | abor
contractor and supervisor rather than a general supervi sor.

Based on the uncontroverted evi dence presented, in particul ar
General Counsel's Exhibit 19-h, 19-mm 19-11, 20-a and 20-b, | find
that Ann P. Costa, Larry J. Enos, Tony Costa, Dominic De Mare and
Anthony J. D Mare are all supervisors within the neaning of section
1140.4(j) of the Act.

20. Based on the uncontroverted testinony presented by
CGeneral Counsel, | find that Fritz B. Burns Foundation, the Sherwood
Ranch, and the Patrick F. Burns Estate are agents of Respondent w thin
the neaning of 1140.4( b) of the Act. No other evidence was presented
as to any of the persons and entities named in Paragraph 26 of the

conpl ai nt .
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C Dscussion of the Unfair Labor Practices Charged

It should be noted that counsel for Respondent rested w thout
presenting evidence in this matter. | therefore base ny findings of
fact solely on the evidence presented by General GCounsel, both
docurentary and by testinmony and by ny judgnent of the demeanor and
credibility of General CGounsel's witnesses. It should al so be noted
that | nake ny findings of fact based on the above finding that DVB
Packing is the successor of Rchard A dass Gonpany, Inc. and that
Rancho Marca de O o, Rancho G o Verde and Rancho de D amantes have at
all tines herein forned an integrated agricultural business enterprise
wth R A Qass and its successors.

As part of the first contract, a supplenental agreenent was
signed on the sane date that the contract was executed, Decenber 19,
1977. The suppl enental agreenent and Appendi x A of the contract
established the "basic rate" or piece rate for the citrus harvest. It
al so gave bargaining unit enpl oyees the absolute right to refuse to
work if agreement on rates could not be reached. Such refusal was
specifically unaffected by and woul d not be construed as a viol ation
of the no-strike provision of Article 25a. It also provided for
arbitration of any dispute at a particul ar block or grove. The
suppl enental agreerment was in effect fromDecenber 19, 1977 through
Decenber 19, 1978. A the expiration of the suppl enental agreenent,
the base rates could be negotiated. This, in fact, occurred on June
18, 1979, when arbitrator WlIliamH PR var issued an award changi ng
the base rates. The custonary practice with negotiating the harvest

piece rate in the fields was stipul ated
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to by General (ounsel and Respondent's attorney, David E Smth.

Evi dence presented by General Counsel established that during the 1978
and 1979 citrus harvest seasons there were nunerous work stoppages
resulting fromthe failure of the enpl oyer to negotiate the piece rate.
Reynal do Hernandez Zapata testified that during the 1978-79 season

t here were nunerous occasi ons when Sal vador Yanez or Gscar Qtega
refused to negotiate the piece rate. He testified that on several
occasi ons during the 1978-79 season the pi ece rate "negoti ati ons"

consi sted of Gscar Qtega offering to flip a coin to deci de the pi ece
rate which workers were going to be paid Raul Galvez, a worker in the
crew of Ranmon Zanora, testified that Gscar Otega and Sal vador Yanez
failed to negotiate the piece rate during the 1978-79 season. He
further testified that during one occasion Gscar Qtega stated, "Wel |,
as far as the union is concerned, | can clean ny balls wthit."

Gscar Otega is a central character in these proceedings. In
the first year of the collective bargai ning agreenent, General
QGounsel *'s Exhibits 22-c, d, e, k, n, g, and westablish that he was
desi gnat ed by Respondents as the representative responsible for
representing themin contract admnistration. The General Counsel
present ed uncontroverted evidence that in the 1979-80 season, Gscar
Qtega, in his newrole as | abor contractor, and his forenen Rogelio
Gaona, Manuel Otega, Ramon Zanora, and Felipe Montero supplied the
harvest workers. The evidence denonstrates that the subcontracting
work was carried out in the identical groves where bargaining unit
wor kers had worked the previous 1979 season. At the sane tinme Gscar

Qtega was playing the role of |abor contractor, he was al so acting
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as Rchard A dass' representative in discussions of grievances
filed by the Uhited Farm VWrkers of Anerica.

Raul Garcia, a worker in Rogelio Gaona's crew, testified
that he was the union representative who, under the contract, was
authorized to negotiate piece rates on behalf of the workers. He
testified that in the 1978-79 season there was great difficulty in
reaching agreenent because the enployer representatives would not
negoti ate pi ece rate.

Wtnesses presented by the General CGounsel testified that the
bargai ning unit crews of Rogeli o Gaona and Ranmon Zanora were often
stopped for days or even weeks as a result of the failure of
Respondents to negotiate the piece rate. They also testified that,
during this tine, other crews were called in to do the work of the
Gaona and Zanora crews; Reynal do Hernandez Zapata testified that he saw
crews performng bargaining unit work and fol |l owed the trucks full of
fruit tothe Rchard A Qass Gonpany, | nc. packing shed. He testified
that the crews used d ass equi pnent, tools and ot her inplenments and
that Qass trucks took the citrus to the packing shed. He stated that
he saw these crews a nunber of times during the 1978-79 season and on
several occasions followed the trucks to the shed. ne of the forenen
he said he sawworking in the groves in charge of such a crew was
Fel i pe Montero.

Hernando Perez testified that he obtained work in M.
Montero's crew and that he worked until the end of the 1978-79
season.

Leopol do Trevi no, the UPWcontract admnistrator during the
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1978-79 season, testified that he | ocated crews doi ng bargai ning unit
work "outside of the contract”". Cne of the crews he | ocated was that
of forenman Felipe Mntero.

Several workers in Rogelio Gaona's and Ranon Zanora's crews
testified concerning the early lay off of the crews in May 1979,
because they woul d not agree to the piece rate being inposed by the
enpl oyer. Their testinony was that both crews were told that if they
woul d not agree to the rate proposed, they woul d have no nore work that
season.

Reynal do Hernandez Zapata testified that the |ast day of work
of the 1978-79 season took place on H ghway 86 in May or June of
1979. He stated that the crewarrived at the grove to begin work at
6: 00 a. m. when he noticed that the grove was in terrible shape. He
testified that the crew would not agree to work at the piece rate
bei ng of fered by Gscar Ortega and Sal vador Yanez. He stated that from
6:00 a. m. to about 10:00 a. m. the crew was stopped outside the grove
during which time Gscar Otega and Sal vador Yanez woul d periodically
come and go. Finally, the crewrepresentative told Gscar Otega that
the price offered was too low, to which Mr. Otega responded, "Veéll, if
you're not goingtogoin, that's it for the rest of the season. And
i f anybody wants to go in without a union, they cangoi n. ", he
stated. He testified that no agreenent was reached and the crew went
honme. That was the | ast day of work for the Ranon Zanora crewin the
1978-79 season. H s testinony was corroborated generally by Raul
Gl vez who was al so present at that tine

Jesus Garcia testified that on or about the sane date he
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was the piece rate negotiator and crew representative in Rogelio
Gaona's crew. He stated that the crew arrived for work on H ghway 86
and Avenue 73 and that the piece rate coul d not be agreed upon. He
testified that foreman Rogeli o Gaona and Manuel O'tega were present and
that, when no agreenent could be reached, Mr. Gaona said that if the
crewdid not want to work that would be all for the crew because there
were a | ot of people without a contract that wanted to work.

General Counsel's Exhibits 21-a, b, and c, which are the
UFW's nonthly payroll reports prepared by the enpl oyers under the UFW
contract substantiate that the last tinme Rogeli o Gaona and Ranon
Zanora's crew worked was in May 1979.

I find, based on the evidence presented by General Counsel,
the testinmony of General Counsel's w tnesses, and the failure of
Respondent to rebut that evidence or testinony, that the |ayoff of the
crews in May 1979 resulted from bargai ni ng unit enpl oyees engagi ng in
activity that was concerted and protected under 1152 of the Act and was
further in violation of the suppl emental agreenent executed on Decenber
19, 1977.

Reynal do Hernandez Zapata testified that he and several
coworkers went to the Gscar Otega office in Coachella in Cctober 1979
a nunber of times to ask when work was to begin. He testified that he
and the others were told by M. QOtega s secretary, that the work woul d

begin "soon", but they were never called. He stated that he al so went
to the union alnost daily to inquire about the beginning of work. Raul
Galvez testified simlarly. Leopoldo Trevino testified that, as the

U-Wcontract admni strator, he nade
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several calls to Gscar Otega s office to inquire about the start of
work in the 1979-80 season and that he was told by Mr. Qtega s
secretary that the workers would be called soon, but no one was ever
called. Nancy Jarvis testified that M. Trevino contacted M. QOtega's
office at her request to determne when work was going to begin. She
stated that she and several workers carried out an investigation and
| earned that non-union crews were doi ng the bargai ning unit work.

CGeneral Counsel Exhibits 21-a, 21-b and 21-c which were
prepared by the enployer corroborate this testinony and denonstrate
that, with the exception of growth tenders, the bargaining unit has
been severely reduced since the 1979-80 citrus season.

General Gounsel presented uncontroverted evi dence that, from
Cctober 1979 through May 1980, Respondent subcontracted bargai ni ng
unit work on ranches historically picked by bargaining unit enpl oyees.
The evi dence established that during this period that work was bei ng
perfornmed by Gscar Otega, Manuel Otega, and crews headed by forenen
Gaona and Zanora and ot hers who had previously supervi sed uni on crews.
Reynal do Hernandez Zapata, Leopol do Trevi no, Raul Gal vez, Nancy Jarvis
and several others testified that they went out to the groves and saw
the Rchard A dass Gonpany, |Inc. forenmen/supervisors working wth
non-uni on crews and using R chard A dass Conpany, |Inc. bins,
| adders, trucks, and other equi prent.

Maria Lua testified that at the start of the 1979 season
Manuel Otega came to her house and told her that the season was about

to start but not to |l et anyone el se know. She has since
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worked for Richard A @ ass Conpany under the supervision of forenman
Rogel i 0 Gaona and supervi sors Yanez, Gscar Ortega and Manual Otega.
She testified the ranches she has worked since the 1979-80 season are
t he same ranches where she previously worked "under the contract”
i ncl udi ng Rancho Marca de o, Rancho o Verde, and Rancho de
D anmant es.

Francisco Ruiz testified that he worked for Rchard A dass
Conpany, Inc. prior to the 1979-80 season under the supervision of
Ramon Zanora but that he was not called back at the start of the 1979-
80 season. He testified that it was not until January 1981 that he
found work with Gscar Otega harvesting citrus and has worked with him
ever since. He stated his foreman is Arturo Avila and that the
supervi sors are Gscar Otega and Manuel Garcia. He testified that some
of the ranches at which he has worked included Marca de O o and
D amant es.

| find, based on the uncontroverted testinony of General
Counsel ' s witnesses, their demeanor and credibility, and the failure of
Respondent to offer any evidence in rebuttal, that Respondent has
failed to recall seniority bargaining unit enpl oyees in the 1979-80
citrus season

The issue of whether or not the Respondent has failed to
provide information to the UFWin connection with the grievance and
arbitration proceedings in 79 RHE No. 3 and 79 RHE No. 4 is clouded by
the Court of Appeals' subsequent ruling that much of the information
requested is covered by the trade secret privilege. | ambound by the
Court of Appeals' ruling and therefore can make no finding that there
has been a failure to provide informati on under the Act regardl ess of

whet her or not Respondents previously raised
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the trade secret privilege. | further find, based on the evidence
presented by General Counsel, that counsel for Respondent did at times
supply much of the information requested by the U-Wand that, in any
case, the UFWdid not exhaust its efforts to continue to request
information fromM. Smth

D. Findings of Fact and Concl usi ons of Law

The assertion by Respondent that the changes that took place
nerely represented i ndependent deci sions by i ndependent conpanies to
use i ndependent |abor contractors and not R chard G ass agricultura
enpl oyees at the same time a series of highly unusual conveyances of
R chard d ass were taking place strains the bounds of credulity,
particularly since the divestitures took place a very short period of
time after the initial certification and contract.

Based on the testinony of General Counsel's w tnesses,
their denmeanor and ny judgnment of their credibility,
cross-examnati on by Respondent's attorney, the docunentary evi dence
presented by General Counsel, and the total |ack of rebuttal testinony
and evi dence presented by Respondent, | nake the follow ng findings of
fact and concl usions of |aw

1. Since on or about April 1979 and continuing to the
present, Respondents have unlawfully instituted unilateral changes in
enpl oynent practices, including but not limted to, the follow ng acts
and conduct :

a. Hred workers in the crew of Rogelio Gaona in
violation of the provisions of the collective bargai ni ng agreenent,
including, but not limted to, the seniority and recal|l provisions.

b. Failed to hire and recall workers into the crew of
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Rogelio Gaona in violation of the seniority and recall provisions of
the col | ective bargai ni ng agreenent.

c. Subcontracted and/or diverted bargai ning unit work
previously perforned by the crew of Rogeli o Gaona.

d. Hred workers in the crew of Aurelio Magana in
violation of the provisions of the collective bargai ni ng agreenent
including, but not limted to, the seniority and recall provisions.

e. Failed to hire and recall workers into the crew of
Aurelio Magana in violation of the seniority and recall provisions of
the col | ective bargai ni ng agreenent.

f. Qontracted and/or diverted bargai ning unit work
previously perforned by the crew of Aurelio Magana.

g. Hred workers in the crew of Felipe Muntero in
violation of the provisions of the collective bargai ni ng agreenent,
including, but not limted to, the seniority and recal |l provisions.

h. Failed to hire and recall workers into the crew of
Felipe Mntero in violation of the seniority and recall provisions of
the col | ective bargai ni ng agreenent.

i. Subcontracted and/or diverted bargai ning unit work
previously perfornmed by the crew of Felipe Mntero.

2. Since or or about April 1979 and continuing to the
present, Respondents have failed and refused to bargain with the UFW
concerning the unilateral changes set forth in Paragraphs 17, parts a
through i, of the conplaint.

3. hor about My 15, 1979, Respondents laid off workers in
the crews of Ranmon Zanora and Rogel i o Gaona because of their

participation in protected union and concerted activities.
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4. Since or or about April 1979 and continuing to the
present, Respondents have refused to rehire the persons naned in
Paragraph 24 of the conplaint because of their participation in
protected union and concerted activities.

5. By the acts described in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, and 4
herei n, Respondents have violated and continue to violate section
1153( a) of the Act

6. By the acts described in Paragraphs 1 and 2 herein,
Respondent s have violated and continue to violate section 1153( e) of
the Act.

7. By the acts described in Paragraphs 3 and 4 herein,
Respondent s have viol ated and continue to violate section 1153( c¢) of
the Act.

V. GONCLUSI ON

| amin agreement with General Counsel's assertion in his
brief that once the corporate |and transactions are pierced and the
I ntent of Respondent is denonstrated, the entire case falls into place
and the lawis not at all conplicated.

The facts in the present case are anal ogous to those in Tex-

Cal Land Managenent, Inc. (1982) 8 ALRB No. 85 where the Board stated:

Wiere a termor condition of enploynent is established by past
practice and/or contractual provision, the unilateral change
constitutes "a renunciation of the nost basic of collective
bargai ning principles, the acceptance and inplication of the
bargai n reached during contract negotiations. (Citation.)
Even after expiration of the contract, an enployer's unilateral
change of any existing working conditions wthout notifying and
bargaining wth the certified bargaining representative
constitutes a per se violation of section 1153( e) and (a) of
the Act. (Citations. Were the unilateral change relates to a
mandat ory subject of bargaining, such as subcontracting and
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hiring, a prinma facie violation of sections 1153(e) and (a) is
established. (Citations.)

In Tex-Cal, there were two collective bargaining agreenents
whi ch contain alnost identical |imtations on subcontracting as those
found in the two Richard dass Conpany contracts

In Footnote 6 of the decision, page 7, the Board held that
even when the coll ective bargaining agreement expires, the hiring
practices and work assignment procedures established by the contract
remain in effect as terms and conditions of enployment which cannot be
unilaterally changed without notifying and bargaining with the union,
at its request, about those changes. |In the present case the UFW was
not notified nor did Richard AL dass Conpany, Inc. bargain about the
changes resulting in the elimnation of the bargaining unit brought
about as a result of subcontract of bargaining unit work.

General Counsel argues that Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co. and
Brewery and Beverage Drivers (1983) 266 NLRB No. 27 [112 LRRM 1303]
and NN.L.R B. v. Acne Industrial Conpany (1967) 385 U. S. 432

denonstrate that the UFWwas entitled to the information it requested
and clainms not to have properly received. It is the position of the
hearing officer that | am bound by Court of Appeals ruling and am
therefore estopped fromfinding Respondents in violation of their duty
to provide information to aid the arbitral process.

As previously stated, this is a case that hinges not so much
on interpretation of law but rather on the findings of fact and the
determ nation that the series of transactions involving G ass and

rel ated conmpanies was done in part to escape responsibility and
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l[iability under the Agricultural Labor Relations Act.
ORDER

The Respondents, R. A. Qass Gonpany, | nc., DMB Packing Corporati on,
doi ng business as R. A. Q@ ass (onpany, Rancho Marca de Qo, Ranco Qo
Verde, Rancho de D amantes, and their owners, officers, agents,
successors and assigns shall:

1. GCease and desist from

a. Laying off, or refusing to rehire, or otherw se
discrimnating agai nst agricultural enpl oyees because of their
participation in protected union or concerted activities;

b. Instituting or inplementing any change in any of its
agricul tural enpl oyees' wages, work hours, or any other terns or
condi ti ons of enploynent, including the diverting or subcontracting of
unit work and the failure to hire or recall enpl oyees pursuant to the
seniority and recall provisions of the collective bargaining agreenent,
wthout first notifying and affording the UFWan opportunity to bargain
w th the Respondents concerni ng such changes.

c. Failing or refusing to bargain wth the UFW
concerning any change in its agricultural enpl oyee wages, work hours,
and any ot her conditions of enploynent, including the diverting or
subcontracting of unit work and the failure to hire or recall enpl oyees
pursuant to the seniority and recall provisions of the collective
bar gai ning agreenent, in accordance with requirenents of good faith
specified in sections 1155.2 and 1155. 3 of the Act.

d Inany like or related manner interfering wth,
restraining or coercing any agricultural enployee in the exercise of

the rights guaranteed in section 1152 of the Act.
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2. Ofer full and immedi ate reinstatenent to enpl oyees who
were laid off or were not rehired to their forner or substantially
equi val ent jobs without prejudice to their seniority rights or any
ot her enpl oynent rights and privileges, and rei nburse themfor al
| osses of pay and ot her econom c | osses they may have suffered as a
result of Respondents' unlawful conduct, reinbursenent to be nade
according to Board precedent, plus interest thereon conputed in the

nmanner prescribed by the Board in Lu-Ette Farns, Inc. (1982) 8 ALRB Nb.
55.

3. Makewhol e its enpl oyees for all economc |osses they have
suffered as a result of the unilateral changes in the terns and
condi tions of enploynment which | osses resulted from Respondents
refusal to bargain in good faith and Respondent’s unl awful contracting
and/ or diversion of bargaining unit work.

4. Uoon request, meet and bargain collectively with the UFW
as the certified exclusive bargai ning representative of Respondents'
agricul tural enpl oyees concerning the unilateral changes heretofore
made i n enpl oyees' terns and conditions of enpl oynent.

5. Rescind the unilateral changes heretofore made in its
enpl oyees' terns and conditions of enploynent, if the UFWso requests.

6. Preserve and upon request nake available to this Board
and its agents, for exam nation, photocopying, and ot herw se copying,
al | personnel records, social security payment records, timecards, and

ot her records rel evant and necessary to determnation
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by the Board of the backpay period and anmounts of backpay due to the
Respondent s' enpl oyees under the terns of the Board's order.

7. Sgn the Notice to Agricultural Enpl oyees attached
hereto, and after its translation by a Board agent into appropriate
| anguages, reproduce sufficient copies in each | anguage for the
pur poses set forth herei nafter.

8. Post copies of the Notice in all appropriate | anguages in
conspi cuous pl aces on Respondents' property, including places where
notices to enpl oyees are usually posted, for a ninety ( 90) day peri od,
the period and pl ace of posting to be determned by the Regi onal
Drector. Respondent shall exercise due care to replace any copi es of
the Notice which may be altered, defaced, covered or renoved

9. Ml copies of the Notice in all appropriate | anguages
within 30 days after the issuance of this order to all enpl oyees
enpl oyed by Respondents at any tine during the 1979 to 1980 season in
guest i on.

10. Arrange for a Board agent or representative of
Respondents to distribute the Notice in all appropriate | anguages to
its enpl oyees assenbl ed on Respondents' tine and property, at the times
and pl aces to be determned by the Regional Drector. Follow ng the
readi ng, a Board agent shall be given the opportunity, outside the
presence of supervi sors and nmanagenent, to answer any questions the
enpl oyees may have concerning the Notice or enpl oyee rights under the
Act. The Regional Orector shall determne a reasonabl e rate of
conpensation to be paid by Respondent to all non-hourly enpl oyees to

conpensate themfor lost of this reading and
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t he questi on-and- answer period.

11. Notify the Regional Director in witing within thirty
(30) days after the date of the issuance of this order of the steps
Respondents have taken to conply with its terns and to continue to
report periodically thereafter, at the Regional Drector's request,
until full conpliance is achieved.

DATED: May 28, 1985

RCBERT L. BURKETT
Adm ni strative Law Judge
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NOTI CE TO AGRI CULTURAL EMPLOYEES

After atrial at which each side had a chance to present their facts,
the Agricultural Labor Relations Board found that we violated the | aw
by di scharging, laying off, and refusing to rehire agricultural

enpl oyees because of their participation in protected union or
concerted activitas; by failing or refusing to bargain wih the UAW
and by instituting changes in its enpl oyees’ wages work hours w t hout
first notifying and affording the U-Wand opportunity to bargain with
t he conpany concerni ng such changes.

The Agricultural Labor Relations Board has told us to send out. and post
this notice. Ve will do what the Board has ordered us to do. V¢ al so
want to tail you that the Agricultural Labor Pela-ions Act is a law
that gives you and all other farmworkers in California these rights:

To organi ze your sel ves;

To form join, or help unions;

To vote in a secret ballot election to decide whet her you

want a union to represent you

To bargain with your enpl oyer about your wages and wor ki ng

conditions through a uni on chosen be a majority of the

enpl oyees and certified by the Board;

5. To act together with other workers to hel p and protect one
anot her; and

6. To decide not to do any of these things.

> wphE

Because this is true, we promse that:

VE WLL NOT do anything in the future that forces you to do, or stops
you fromdoing, any of the things |isted above. Especially:

VE WLL NOT fail or refuse to rehire or reinstate or otherw se
discrimnate agai nst any enpl oyee in regard to his or her enpl oynent
because he or she has joined or supported the U-Wor any ot her | abor
organi zation .

VE WLL notify and bargain with the UFWbef ore nmaki ng any changes in
the wages, hours and working conditions of our agricul tural enployees.

VEE WLL offer to reinstate all enpl oyees who were laid off or who were
not rehired to their fornmer jobs wthout prejudice to their seniority
rights or any other enpl oyrment rights and privileges and rei nburse them
for all |osses of pay and other econom cal | osses they nay have
suffered as a result of our unlawful conduct. V& wll further pay back
all enployees for their | osses they nay have suffered as a result of
the unilateral changes in the terns and



lgo_ndliqti ons of enploynent resulting fromour refusal to bargain in good
atn.

Dat ed: DMB PACKING INC. dba R. A. @QASS I NC

(Representative) (Title)

I f you have any questions about your rights as farmworkers or about
this Notice, you nmay contact an?/ office of the Agricultual Labor

Rel ations Board. One office is located at 319 VWaterman Avenue, H
Centro, California 92243. The tel ephone nunber is (619) 353-2130.

This is an official Notice of the Agricultural Labor Relations
Board, an agency of the State of California.

DO NOT REMOVE CR MUTI LATE.
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